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          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON McMAHON: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. My name is Michael McMahon and as Chairman

          4  of the City Council Committee on Sanitation and

          5  Solid Waste Management, I hereby call this committee

          6  meeting to order.

          7                 I'm joined this afternoon by the

          8  Minority Leader of the City Council, James Oddo, as

          9  well as my colleagues from the Committee, Jim

         10  Gennaro and Jose Serrano. We have one order of

         11  business that we'd like to take care of before we

         12  commence with this hearing.

         13                 And my colleagues, we will be voting

         14  on a resolution that is sent to us from Speaker

         15  Miller, which is a resolution calling upon the

         16  United States Congress to posthumously bestow the

         17  Presidential Medal of Freedom upon Father Mychial

         18  Judge. As many of you know, Father Judge, was the

         19  Chaplain of the New York City Fire Department and

         20  lost his life with so many others on September 11th.

         21                 In addition, to that, he lead a life,

         22  I think, of everyday exhibited heroism and the full

         23  resolution will be presented as in front of you, and

         24  I urge unanimous vote on this resolution.

         25                 Would the Clerk please call the vote.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lanza.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         13  the affirmative, zero negative, no abstentions.

         14  Items adopted.  Council Members, please sign the

         15  Committee report. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And I would also

         17  ask the clerk to leave the vote on that open as the

         18  other members arrive who are on the committee. And

         19  thank you for your indulgence to allow us to do

         20  that.

         21                 As I said, my name is Michael

         22  McMahon. And I'm the Chairman of this Committee on

         23  Sanitation and Solid Waste Management. As many of

         24  you know, all of us gathered here today, the City of

         25  New York has and continues to face a garbage crisis.
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          2  This is not something that the current

          3  administration has inherited. This is something that

          4  has not been dealt with seriously and effectively by

          5  the City of New York since its incorporation, over

          6  100 years ago. And as one noted author will say,

          7  more than 200 years of inaction, I believe, is

          8  something that we are all trying to deal with. And

          9  it's something that this Administration, the

         10  Bloomberg Administration, is trying to deal with as

         11  well.

         12                 The purpose of this oversight hearing

         13  is concerning the progress with the Mayor's plan to

         14  use eight existing marine transfer stations to

         15  transport the City's residential solid waste and

         16  also include room for commercial waste and to gather

         17  information as to how the City's recycling program

         18  has fared since the program was cut to alternate

         19  week collection.

         20                 As many of you know, on August 2,

         21  Mayor Bloomberg announced that he was going to

         22  change the long term export plan agreed to by the

         23  former mayor. The City Council and approved by the

         24  New York State Department of Environmental

         25  Conservation in February of 2001, from shipping our
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          2  solid waste to a New Jersey containerization

          3  facility to reinstating the use of the City's eight

          4  existing marine transfer stations to receive

          5  containerized and then transport the 12,000 tons of

          6  residential solid waste generated each day.

          7                 The New Jersey Plan what was known as

          8  the Linden Plan. The Mayor said that the Plan would

          9  cost about $240 million, in capital dollars for the

         10  retrofitting and take approximately two years to

         11  complete. On January 28, 2003, Harry Szarpanski,

         12  Assistant Commissioner for the Bureau of Long Term

         13  Export, testified before this committee regarding

         14  the Mayor's plan. Mr. Szarpanski testified that

         15  after reviewing concept drawings for the retrofitted

         16  ETS's prepared by an engineering firm, it may

         17  actually take four or five years to complete the

         18  projects from design to construction and may cost a

         19  total of somewhere in the range of $400 million or

         20  $50 per site. That is a paraphrase by the way and

         21  not a direct quote. If I miss paraphrase, I

         22  apologize.

         23                 In February 2003, the Department

         24  awarded the firm of Greeley and Hanson a $35 million

         25  contract to design and oversee construction of the
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          2  new MTS's. Today, we hope to learn what progress in

          3  the Mayor's plan has been made over the last 11

          4  months since that testimony and actually 16 months

          5  since the Mayor made his announcement.

          6                 We will also be hearing testimony

          7  regarding how the City's recycling program has fared

          8  since July 1, 2003, when collection was cut from

          9  once per week to alternate weeks. As we look forward

         10  to April 1, 2004, less than four months away when

         11  according to City statute, our full recycling

         12  program is to be reinstituted. We'll be looking at

         13  the readiness of the Department to return to weekly

         14  collection and the recycling of metal, glass,

         15  plastic and paper all together.

         16                 Today, we are pleased and honored to

         17  welcome as our first witness, Department of

         18  Sanitation Commissioner, John Doherty. And if you

         19  would also introduce the two colleagues who are with

         20  you for the record.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Good afternoon,

         22  Chairman McMahon and members of the City Council

         23  Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste Management.

         24  I am John Doherty, Commissioner of New York City

         25  Department of Sanitation. It is my pleasure to
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          2  testify on the Department's efforts to implement the

          3  long- term export program on the City's -- and on

          4  the City's recycling program. With me this afternoon

          5  is Assistant Commissioner Harry Szarpanski, from

          6  Sanitation Department and Kate Ascher, Executive

          7  Vice President for the Infrastructure in New York

          8  City Economic Development Corporation. Okay.

          9                 The Department has been working

         10  closely with EDC on the City's new solid waste

         11  management plan. Over the past year, we have been

         12  moving forward to convert the marine transfer

         13  stations into facilities that containerize municipal

         14  solid waste. Most recently, our consultants

         15  completed a design package that provides us with a

         16  clear picture of the engineering work required to

         17  implement the conversion program in its entirety. We

         18  have some graphics with us today that we will show

         19  you what the new facility will look like. We have

         20  also proceeded with a number of other components of

         21  the City's long- term solid waste management plan,

         22  including those related to commercial waste and

         23  recycling, which will form part of the Comprehensive

         24  Solid Waste Management Plan for the next 20 year

         25  planning period. The new plan will be submitted to
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          2  the Council this summer.

          3                 We currently have several initiatives

          4  underway. The Department has undertaken a major

          5  study of the commercial waste management in New York

          6  City. Which we expected to provide us with a

          7  valuable information for advancing the City's goal

          8  of minimizing the environmental impacts from

          9  transferring and transporting commercial waste in

         10  accordance with the requirements of Local Law 74 of

         11  2000. This study will be completed and sent to the

         12  Council in March. In consultation with the Council,

         13  the recommendations from this study will be included

         14  in the new plan.

         15                 We also issued a 20 year recycling

         16  RFP, which solicits proposals from vendors

         17  interesting in handling metal, glass, and plastic.

         18  Responses were received last Wednesday and are being

         19  evaluated by the Department.

         20                 The Department is half way through

         21  construction of a new transfer station on Staten

         22  Island where the borough's waste will be

         23  containerized. We also released an RFP for a private

         24  firm to either operate, transport and dispose, or

         25  simply transport and dispose of the waste from this
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          2  facility. We expect to receive responses to this RFP

          3  on December 19th, of this year.

          4                 Likewise, we will be proceeding with

          5  several other initiatives related to the long- term

          6  plan in the up coming weeks. The Department will be

          7  issuing an RFP for the transport, disposal and

          8  containerization of waste from the converted MTS's

          9  to the ultimate destinations. The RFP will allow

         10  vendors to propose handling waste from one or more

         11  of the MTS's. This will allow us to assess the cost

         12   -- the total cost of the MTS conversion program.

         13                 We'll also be soliciting proposals

         14  from qualified vendors to containerize waste at

         15  private waste transfer stations that can provide

         16  rail or barge export in Brooklyn, Queens, and the

         17  Bronx. We have crafted the requirements in these

         18  procurements that are designed to encourage upgrades

         19  to existing facilities and to foster barge and rail-

         20  based waste transport by the private sector. Vendors

         21  will be required to propose transfer stations that

         22  will containerize all waste received at the facility

         23  including commercial waste and to export the

         24  containerized waste from the City by barge or rail.

         25  This RFP will allow us to compare the cost and
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          2  timing of the MTS conversions in these areas against

          3  possible private sector alternatives.

          4                 We will be contracting with a

          5  consulting firm early next year to assist in

          6  evaluating new and emerging technologies and

          7  approaches for the long- term waste management with

          8  the hope that this will lay the ground work

          9  necessary to allow New York City to explore the

         10  environmentally friendly alternatives in the future.

         11  In addition to the Department's commitment to

         12  exporting the City's waste by barge or rail, the

         13  Department is also dedicated to furthering the

         14  City's recycling program.

         15                 As I mentioned briefly earlier in my

         16  testimony, the Department released an RFP to accept,

         17  process, and market New York City recyclables in

         18  August. The goal of this RFP is to provide the

         19  private sector with a significantly long and

         20  contractually secure supply arrangement to guarantee

         21  that necessary capital investments will be

         22  undertaken. The Department believes that this 20

         23  year RFP will attract one or more contractors with

         24  the capacity to handle the metal, plastic and glass

         25  that the Department currently collects with extra
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          2  capacity to accommodate future recycling growth.

          3                 This RFP is for primary processing,

          4  the sorting, cleaning, bailing and marketing of the

          5  recyclables that come off the curb. The RFP

          6  encourages proposers with the need to scale

          7  resources and to think creatively and to partnering

          8  with smaller firms for steps after primary

          9  processing and to make the most of the City's

         10  economic development resources in planning their

         11  responses.

         12                 The proposal submitted on November

         13  26, 2003, are currently under review by the

         14  Department. Please note that while the Department

         15  anticipates a formal announcement on this

         16  procurement sometime in early 2004, we are not at

         17  liberty today to discuss anything related to the

         18  proposals received.

         19                 Local Law No. 50 of 2003 authorized

         20  the Department to implement and maintain alternate

         21  week collection of designated recyclable material in

         22  all local service delivery districts until March 31,

         23  2004. This change was not -- has not had an adverse

         24  impact on the Department's recycling diversion

         25  rates. In fact, from August 1, 2003 through October
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          2  31, 2003, the Department recycled approximately

          3  16,050 tons per day compared with approximately

          4  1,440 tons per day -- I'm sorry, that was 1,650 tons

          5  per day as compared with 1,440 tons per day during

          6  the same period last year. This number reflects an

          7  increase in the amount of paper recycle as well as

          8  the reintroduction of plastic into the recycling

          9  stream. From August 1, 2003 through October 31,

         10  2003, the Department has recycled on average of

         11  1,208 tons per day of paper as compared with 1,162

         12  tons of paper per day during the same period last

         13  year. This is an increase of approximately four

         14  percent.

         15                 In conclusion, we expect that the

         16  results of these various solicitations and studies

         17  will provide us with an important information that

         18  will assist us in crafting cost effective and

         19  environmentally sound solid waste management plan

         20  for the next planning period. We expect to submit a

         21  draft plan to the City Council for review this

         22  coming summer.

         23                 We will now be available to answer

         24  any questions you may have. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Commissioner,
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          2  are you going to explain the graphics?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Okay. We can do

          4  that right now. Harry, you want to point it out.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          6  Sure.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: What you have

          8  up on the board right now --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: As I tell my

         10  colleagues, you have in front of you, copies of the

         11  graphic. Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: What you have

         13  up there right now is the five boroughs of New York

         14  City and where the current eight marine transfer

         15  stations are. If on the right side or the left side

         16   -- right side, I guess, you see Southwest

         17  incinerated down in the lower part of Brooklyn,

         18  Hamilton Avenue further up on the Bay and to

         19  northern part, Green Point. Further over in Queens,

         20  you have North Shore and then on the other side you

         21  have in the Bronx, you have the South Bronx Marine

         22  Transfer Station. In Manhattan, you have East 91st

         23  Street on the upper east side of Manhattan and on

         24  the west side -- on the upper west side, we have

         25  135th and in Manhattan, we have 59th Street on the
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          2  west side. There are the eight marine transfer

          3  stations that were in operation prior to the shut

          4  down of Fresh Kills Landfill. And they are the ones

          5  that we're looking at now to convert to a

          6  containerized operation.

          7                 This next board gives you a little

          8  bit of an idea and it may be a little difficult to

          9  read. But it gives a little idea of what will

         10  transpire in these new facilities. You can see on

         11  the top that is a tipping area. Trucks will come in,

         12  into that tipping area and they will tip into the

         13  loading area. Which is a level below. That loading

         14  area will provide us with a storage so that trucks

         15  can move quickly, dump their truck and get out.

         16  There will be front end loading machines on the

         17  floor which will take the garbage, push it through a

         18  hole which will go down into a container on another

         19  floor. So, basically you have a three level

         20  operation. The tipping floor, the loading floor

         21  which is below the tipping floor and the loading

         22  container area. Where the containers will be loaded.

         23  The container will be capped off with a seal top and

         24  will go out the back door.

         25                 I'll give you a little idea of an
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          2  artist rendering of this and don't hold me to the

          3  colors. But what you're looking at there is you can

          4  actually see a ramp leading up into the marine

          5  transfer station. It actually splits near the top.

          6  One, the far right one is for the trucks to go in.

          7  The lower one is for machinery on the second floor

          8  to be able to come in and out and be fueled. So we

          9  need a service ramp for that. Coming out the back of

         10  the facility, you'll see these overhead cranes which

         11  carry the containers that I mentioned before, were

         12  loaded inside of the facility. They're brought out

         13  on a crane and they're loaded onto a barge. These

         14  are sealed containers. They're be a standard

         15  shipping container that can use any  mode of

         16  transportation that will be necessary to get them --

         17  the waste to its final disposal point.

         18                 Here again, is another picture of the

         19  transfer station. Just slightly different but here

         20  again, you're looking at the back door where the

         21  container comes out and it will go onto a barge and

         22  ultimately be sailed to an unloading point and to

         23  its ultimate disposal point.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Commissioner, do

         25  you have with you the graphics for the specific
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          2  sites themselves?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No. These are

          4  generic. The renderings are generic.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: They've not been

          6  made site specific yet. So if somebody wants to know

          7  what it will like it at East 91st Street --

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We haven't done

          9  that. No.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. I want to

         11  say that we've also been joined by my colleague,

         12  Gail Brewer, from Manhattan, and also that Jim

         13  Gennaro, who is a member of this committee had to go

         14  next door because he's simultaneously chairing a

         15  hearing of the Committee on Environmental Protection

         16  of which he's the Chairperson. Before we get into

         17  the specifics of the plan and where we are, I have

         18  sort of an overall feeling or almost a frustration

         19  that I feel. And it's the following. I think you'll

         20  agree that we can sit continued to be in the

         21  throughs of the interim plan which we've been in

         22  since 1996, in part. And certainly in total since

         23  2001. And what that plan means is that there are

         24  neighborhoods that have these land based transfer

         25  stations. And you'll agree, I'm sure, that these are
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          2  environmentally unfriendly sites to have with the

          3  truck traffic and also the smell and the attended

          4  unpleasantness.

          5                 We continue to put trucks on the

          6  highway. Up to 5,000 a day, I believe, carrying the

          7  waste to far away landfill sites. And at the same

          8  time, the cost of this and as you said before, the

          9  cost of this has become very, very, expensive. In my

         10  mind, it's a crisis situation. On the one hand, I

         11  commend the Administration for moving and you,

         12  Commissioner, for moving in the direction, many of

         13  the directions which this Council and prior Council

         14  have advocated. But, I feel like we're making baby

         15  steps. That we're going very slowly and giving the

         16  nature of this crisis and given the nature of the

         17  City's fiscal situation, we should be trying to move

         18  this in leaps and bounds. In your mind, is there no

         19  way to expedite this so that we can get this plan up

         20  and running?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: You know,

         22  people as you pointed out, will say we might be

         23  moving a little slow. But when you study it, I mean

         24  when the Mayor first gave me the direction that he

         25  wanted and he announced that he wanted the -- a new
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          2  method basically to rethink the marine transfer

          3  station system, we went and the Department went out

          4  immediately and hired an engineering firm. We were

          5  fortunate enough that we happen to have a firm on

          6  board, under a contract, to start the work. In the

          7  end, they were the ones that won the final contract.

          8                 So, we actually got an early start

          9  when you think about it, because if we had to wait

         10  for an RFP to get out there and select a design

         11  company to do this work, we probably would have been

         12  further ahead -- behind. But we've been able to move

         13  rather quickly on that.

         14                 These designs are very complicated.

         15  We're basically building something new. Nobody else

         16  has this type of technology or this type of system

         17  in use right now. So the engineers had to sit down,

         18  take our ideas, what we were trying to accomplish in

         19  New York City and make it a reality. They had to

         20  work with people that knew waste disposal and how to

         21  handle garbage. They had to work with marine

         22  engineers. There was a lot of different requirements

         23  and needed by the different people that came in and

         24  worked on this design. They also had to worked with

         25  the Department personnel to understand how we
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          2  operate. How waste gets delivered there. When it's

          3  usually delivered and some of the issues we have.

          4  How much will be on a truck? There was many, many

          5  issues. So, I think it's moving rather well. One

          6  would always like to see it move faster, but I think

          7  we're going along pretty good.

          8                 And then, of course, we have other

          9  issues to face, you know, beside the design, the

         10  demolition of the marine transfer station and the

         11  construction of new transfer station. There's

         12  environmental issues that have to go through.

         13  Environmental reviews. The solid waste management

         14  plan has to be approved by the City Council, the

         15  State. So there's a lot of different steps when one

         16  talks about putting something in place like this. I

         17  think we also have to realize this is going to be

         18  the first time in 100 years, you said, 200 years

         19  before. This is going to be the first time that the

         20  City is going to build a system to get the waste out

         21  of the City. We have a little system now. We're

         22  trucking it. Nobody likes that. I don't like it.

         23  Nobody likes it. We want to build a system that can

         24  last us maybe another 100 years. So, it's going to

         25  take a little time. You can't just say, let it

                                                            21

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  happen right away. You want to build it. You want to

          3  build it right and you want to make sure it works.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But are you

          5  saying that there -- well, I get a feeling that

          6  there's not the sense of urgency that this problem

          7  requires. Professionalism, understanding the

          8  comprehensive nature of it, the Mayor said today on

          9  Staten Island, what a complex problem this is. It is

         10  very complex. But the City when it wants to, when it

         11  has the will, it can deal with complex problems very

         12  quickly. I do not feel that sense of urgency. When

         13  the Mayor abandoned the Linden Plan, he also said he

         14  was going to look at the problem and propose a

         15  solution. Which he did. And he said, I abandoned the

         16  Linden Plan, which probably could have been up and

         17  running sooner, but this can be up and running in

         18  two years. Now I remember that press conference

         19  because you were standing next to me and I also

         20  remember that you made an expression that said, most

         21  respectfully, towards your boss, but also maybe

         22  indicated in a way that he was perhaps overly

         23  optimistic. Was he overly optimistic? Clearly. The

         24  question then is, given the rate of speed that we're

         25  going at, how long will it be before this plan is up
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          2  and running?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We see the

          4  first -- well, we can say Staten Island will be up

          5  and running next year. But as far as the MTS scale,

          6  we see the first facility, the land base facility

          7  which would be Hamilton Avenue, Southwest and

          8  Greenpoint, would be up and running in calendar year

          9   '06. And the one's over the water in '07. So, we do

         10  have a couple of more years to go. But is there a

         11  sense of urgency in the Department? Absolutely. I

         12  want to see this thing get built as long as -- as

         13  much as everybody does. I want to see a system where

         14  the trucks can be dumping close to where they're

         15  working on a regular basis and get back to the

         16  system that we had used for many, many years and

         17  served us well, the marine transfer system. I want

         18  to see that up and running as quickly as possible.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But aren't your

         20  dates even overly optimistic? Because the land based

         21  stations, now those are the ones that you just gave

         22  out RFP's on alternative means as I understand it.

         23  That may not be a marine transfer station. And as I

         24  also understand it, the design of these facilities

         25  is only 25 or 30 percent completed. So, we haven't
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          2  even completed the design of the facilities. When

          3  will the design be completed?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: The -- we have

          5  the conceptual design. We know what has to go into

          6  it. It's laid out. There's a lot more design work

          7  and I think I will let Harry answer when he expects

          8  the full result. Well, it will be when we start

          9  construction which is going to be --

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         11  We're going to have the bid documents on this in

         12  August '04. The completion of design.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Okay. He's

         14  saying August of '04 -- that would be for the

         15  construction?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         17  Yes.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Okay. In August

         19  of '04, we'll have the designs on the street for

         20  bidding by construction companies to build the

         21  facilities.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And how long is

         23  the bidding process?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Probably, we've

         25  got to look at and see what they're putting up.
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          2  Probably several months. But we're on a time table

          3  to get it done on the land ones in '06 and on the

          4  water in '07.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But if you will

          6  just kind of walk me through. So the design is on

          7  the street August of '04. The bidding process is

          8  seven months. I'm very bad with months. I think that

          9  takes me to March '05. That's when the construction

         10  would begin or is that when the permitting process

         11  begins? And the environmental review process begins?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We've got to

         13  get through the SWMP first.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         15  The construction will not start until and you saw

         16  the waste management plans approved. We're looking

         17  to submit to the Council in steps. We're looking to

         18  submit to the Council in March of next year the

         19  results of the commercial waste study that Local Law

         20  74 requires us to submit. We'll have the public and

         21  environmental review scoping process starting about

         22  a month or two after that. And then we hope to

         23  submit to the Council a draft SWMP sometime in the

         24  summer of '04. And then we go through the process of

         25  getting approval and discussing what the Council --
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          2  what the new solid waste management plan is going to

          3  look like. And once that's approved, actual

          4  construction and entering into actual contracts with

          5  the vendors who responded to our RFP's will take

          6  place.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: For the

          8  construction?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         10  For the construction of the marine transfer stations

         11  and for entering into contracts. The alternate

         12  contracts that we talked about for using private

         13  capacity. We cannot make those kind of commitments

         14  until those facilities get incorporated into an

         15  approved solid waste management plan.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: The private

         17  facilities for commercial waste or for residential

         18  waste?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         20  No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: How do we get

         22  the private facilities? You're talking about the

         23  three alternate proposals --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         25  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- That may

          3  become private facilities?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          5  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And if you don't

          7  get satisfactory bids on that, then they remain

          8  municipal facilities?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         10  Then we will continue with all the marine transfer

         11  stations.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. All that

         13  being said, and that's a whole other issue there.

         14  But all that being said, we're now in late '05, no,

         15  late '04.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         17   '04.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: We have the

         19  solid waste management plan done. Isn't that

         20  optimistic because we've been waiting for that for

         21  how long and how many extensions have we done? And

         22  it was based on the commercial waste study which was

         23  originally due two years ago.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         25  Well, Local Law 74 requires that the commercial
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          2  waste study be done by March of next year. And

          3  that's what we're shooting for.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We did a

          5  preliminary commercial waste study --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Which was the

          7  data. Okay.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right. We gave

          9  you that. And we're finalizing it and that requires

         10  us to submit it to you next year.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And if the

         12  commercial waste study takes longer than --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We seem to be

         14  on track. I mean, we finished the preliminary runs

         15  on the putrescible waste. We're looking at the C&D

         16  material right now.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So then assuming

         18  all that is done on time, and again, sometimes I

         19  think, you know, we always hear some of these overly

         20  optimistic statements and then we get caught later

         21  on saying we're behind and we're failing. I mean,

         22  are those predictions realistic?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Commissioner,

         25  you're a realist.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So then the

          4  construction bids go out in early fall of '04. The

          5  RFP's for construction. Is that correct? And then

          6  seven months later we know who's going to build

          7  these facilities.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          9  They're not going to be RFP's. They're going to be

         10  bid document. Publicly bid construction.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I apologize.

         12  Then we have to do EIS's or when are we doing the

         13  EIS's and getting the permits from the state?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         15  The EIS process, the public process will take place

         16  starting in April of next year. We'll have scoping

         17  hearings on the scope that we're going to propose

         18  and we'll get comments back from the public and then

         19  produce a final scoping document and then produce a

         20  draft EIS for the solid waste management plan by

         21  August of next year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But last

         23  January, didn't you say that those public meeting

         24  were going to start taking place in March and April

         25  and May of this year?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: That -- go

          3  ahead.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          5  When I previously testified, the concept was that we

          6  would move ahead with the marine transfer stations

          7  permitting prior to getting approval of a new solid

          8  waste management plan. We thought it's more prudent

          9  to get -- to do an environmental review of the

         10  entire program including the solid waste management

         11  plan which will include how we address commercial

         12  waste and how we address recycling. Not just doing

         13  the EIS on the marine transfer station projects. So,

         14  now the EIS that we're doing will include all the

         15  elements required and will be incorporated in our

         16  proposed solid waste management plan.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So when will the

         18  EIS -- that comprehensive EIS begun?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         20  Well, as I mentioned, the draft EIS will be

         21  submitted sometime in the early summer and then a

         22  final EIS by August of next year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Now you've got

         24  the bids in for the construction. We're into spring

         25  of '04 and you're predicting the construction takes
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          2  how long?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI: It

          4  will range from about 20, 24 months roughly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And that would

          6  be for the land based stations. The three land based

          7  stations.

          8                 MR SZARPANSKI: The longer range will

          9  be for the over water facilities. So we're talking

         10  about land based facilities being up and running,

         11   '06. And the over water facilities in '07.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Again, I have to

         13  say that I think we're taking such incremental steps

         14  that time is going by and I wonder if that we're not

         15  going to run into the same situation we had. We had

         16  the Linden Plan. And then the Linden Plan was the

         17  idea from a former administration, I understand

         18  that. But then that was abandoned. And now we're

         19  moving forward with this plan. But I don't see the

         20  urgent commitment to deal with this problem that we

         21  have to there.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: There is a

         23  commitment as I said before. We have a commitment to

         24  get it done. And there's an urgency. But there is a

         25  time line to get things done. You can't move them
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          2  any faster. I mean, we have the engineers working on

          3  it. We'll be putting things out. We have the

          4  environmental reviews. We have the solid waste

          5  management plan. There are a lot of steps to go

          6  through before we reach our goal. And our goal is --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But even -- I

          8  didn't mean to cut you off, I'm sorry.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, and our

         10  goal is to get it done in '06 and '07, calendar

         11  years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So the design

         13  work for instance. That takes so long. As a lay

         14  person, it's hard for me to comprehend that. Because

         15  other projects and other systems are put up much

         16  more quickly. Why is this taking so long if you know

         17  the design? I mean, why does that take so long?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: This was not a

         19  cookie cutter. They're weren't building an apartment

         20  house where they build a lot of apartment houses.

         21  This was basically something brand new to them and

         22  they had to look at that. There was many, many

         23  things that had to go into the engineering design. I

         24  mean just the structural part of it to take the

         25  weight. To figure out which was the best way to
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          2  handle the waste. We ended up with the three tier

          3  system -- three floor system where we move it from

          4  one level to another to move it as quickly as we can

          5  to get it into the containers. To seal the

          6  containers. This was not an easy design by any

          7  means. And we're working on a somewhat limited foot

          8  print. We only had so much room under the water or

          9  on the land to work with. So the engineers had to be

         10  pretty creative to maximize the use of that space

         11  and provide us with as much through put capacity as

         12  they could.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And in your

         14  mind, Commissioner, is there any way to expediate

         15  this? Is there anything that can be done to make --

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think when we

         17  send --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- This go more

         19  quickly?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: -- The solid

         21  waste management plan to the Council, they can

         22  approve it very quickly and that will help us move

         23  along.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Well, it

         25  certainly -- if it's -- if you want us to write, you
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          2  know, get us into the drafting stages now or put in

          3  things there that the Council can accept, but that's

          4  certainly could be a long drawn out battle depending

          5  what's in there. That's why I just don't know why

          6  the EIS had to be the comprehensive EIS. If this is

          7  the plan that we're moving forward with, then an EIS

          8  should had been done for just this plan. We should

          9  have had the design done already and we should be

         10  looking at a much shorter time table. This doesn't

         11  even include, as you said, this is a transportation

         12  system. And we have not even talked about where the

         13  garbage will go once it gets into the containers.

         14  That is something now that you're addressing with a

         15  new --

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: RFP. Down to

         17  three.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- RFP? To see

         19  who was going to take it.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Could you

         22  explain that a little bit more for my colleagues?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, we put an

         24  RFP out in the street.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:
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          2  Well, we will put it out. We will be starting -- it

          3  will go out.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          6  Mr. Chairman, as you know, on the Staten Island

          7  transfer station facility, an RFP is already out on

          8  the street. We're expecting proposals December 19,

          9  and those proposals will tell us who will be the

         10  company that will either operate, transport and

         11  dispose, or just transport and dispose of Staten

         12  Island waste. There are additionally four other

         13  RFP's that we expect to issue before the end of this

         14  month. And those would be number one for, the

         15  containers resulting from the new marine transfer

         16  stations. Where will those containers go? How will

         17  they be moved to their ultimate disposal location?

         18  There will be three other procurements which will

         19  seek the private sectors help in moving waste out of

         20  the City by barge or rail. There will be a separate

         21  RFP for the Bronx Waste Shed, separate one for the

         22  Brooklyn Waste Shed near the Newtown Creek and a

         23  third one for the Queens Waste Shed on the other

         24  side of Newtown Creek. So those RFP's are being

         25  developed right now. They're being finalized and
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          2  we're shooting for the 22nd of this month to have

          3  them out on the street.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And the response

          5   -- when will be the last day to respond to those?

          6  Roughly?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI: In

          8  about two months or so after that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: What if there's

         10  no response to those? What if nobody says we want

         11  the containers?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         13  We're confident that there will be responses.

         14  There's a lot of money to be made. This is an

         15  expensive system. We don't have many choices. There

         16  will be responses.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Can you tell me,

         18  you touched on the point of an expensive system,

         19  what is the estimate now for the cost -- the average

         20  cost for these facilities?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI: I

         22  think we're still talking about a roughly $50

         23  million per facility.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: For the marines

         25  facility?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          3  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And the land

          5  based stations are more expensive or less expensive?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          7  That's an average, I think.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: An average

          9  throughout.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

         11  The land based may be a little less expensive.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think it's

         13  important when you talk about the expense of these

         14  marine transfer stations and sometimes more is made

         15  out of it than it should. When you look at the

         16  average cost to build sanitation garages, a garage

         17  were either built recently or we're going to be

         18  building, the average cost for a sanitation garage

         19  is like $65 million. These construction projects are

         20  not cheap. When you look at the sanitation capital

         21  budget versus the City's, we're only about -- we're

         22  less than two percent of the capital budget. So one

         23  is $50 million. That's a lot of money. It is no

         24  doubt about it. But when you look at the cost of

         25  construction in the City and you look at the other
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          2  projects we're working on, just our garages alone

          3  are $65 million. So, I think everything has to be

          4  put in context when you talk about that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I think what I

          6  also like to do is put it into context of -- don't

          7  forget that this plan was put forward after the

          8  abandoning of a former plan and was sort of promoted

          9  at that time as costing a certain amount and being

         10  able to be done in a certain amount. I understand

         11  how complex the problem is. In fact, I think I have

         12   -- well I can't say. To me the sense of urgency is

         13  much greater. Having visiting your neighborhoods

         14  where these land transfer stations are now. Seeing

         15  the trucks on the road. Having going up next to the

         16  Fresh Kill Landfill. You've heard all that before, I

         17  know. But the point is, it seems to me that knowing

         18  that and knowing that we've abandoned the Linden

         19  Plan and knowing that we're now moving in this

         20  direction, we should be doing so, I think, much more

         21  expeditiously. I know that at least two of the sites

         22  have incinerators next to them. Existing

         23  incinerators that have to be torn down to make the

         24  room for the station. Has that process begun?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. There's
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          2  three incinerators that have to be done. One of

          3  them, a contractor have been awarded to already and

          4  that's for the Southwest incinerator. There will be

          5  another contract and it was slightly delayed because

          6  of a background check in Vendex, but it's moving

          7  forward now to have the Greenpoint and the Hamilton

          8  Avenue incinerators demolished. So that's moving

          9  forward already.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And on the

         11  design of these facilities themselves, at the

         12  January 28, hearing, I suggested that the new MTS

         13  design include away to have the trucks unload in an

         14  enclosed facility. And that the trucks not line up

         15  out into the adjacent lot. Or out into the

         16  neighborhood and that odor mitigating equipment

         17  being installed. Has the design incorporated any of

         18  those futures?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: The design has

         20  incorporated an air filtration system that will run

         21  through a system of filters and spraying deodorants

         22  on all the air that's exchanged in the marine

         23  transfer station to rectify any odors that may be

         24  created. That was already in the design. That is in

         25  there. As far as the queuing, we're building the
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          2  ramps so that they can hold trucks on the ramps. In

          3  the past, the ramps to the marine transfer stations

          4  were not engineered to with a degree that they could

          5  support trucks parked one behind the other while

          6  they were waiting to get in. So the new ramps are

          7  being designed. To handle that, some of the transfer

          8  stations because of the land we may have around

          9  them, will have the ability to have an on- site

         10  vehicle queuing facilities where we have more trucks

         11  coming that can be handled on the ramp. We have to

         12  stage them in other areas so that we don't have the

         13  lines going out into the street.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. Once this

         15  plan is up and running, and what will be the total

         16  through put capacity? And the second part of my

         17  question is, will commercial waste will be able to

         18  go through these facilities as well?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We absolutely

         20  want commercial waste to go through it. When one

         21  looks at the current designs, the engineers tell us,

         22  well you could probably put 4,300 tons in 24 hours

         23  through the facility. We have to look to see how

         24  much they can take at once because the system -- our

         25  trucks go out at a certain time. They get loaded at
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          2  a certain time. They all dump at a certain time. So,

          3  there is some capacity constraints on how many

          4  trucks can be dumped at once and processed through

          5  the facility. But the facility will have the

          6  capacity, each one, to handle 4,300 tons. What we

          7  have to figure out is our timing and bringing the

          8  garbage basically to the facility so that they can

          9  handle it in an orderly manner and process as much

         10  as possible. But that's main consideration -- I

         11  mean, I want to see them dump as quickly as

         12  possible. We're looking to dump, I'm hoping at least

         13  30 trucks in an hour. And that gets us close to what

         14  we were able to do with the old marine transfer

         15  station. So that we don't have the ques that we can

         16  handle it rather quickly.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. Just to go

         18  back if I could just for one minute and my

         19  colleagues have some questions and if it's okay with

         20  you, we'll do the MTS system and then go to

         21  recycling. I started down the line of a question

         22  before, the way you've laid out how we're going to

         23  get to the point that these systems up and running.

         24  Is there anything that we can do differently to

         25  speed up the process? For instance, can we do a
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          2  specific EIS just for this process to move this

          3  process along?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI: I

          5  don't think so. I think you need to do the whole

          6  environmental review as a program. I think you run

          7  into segmentation issues if you start looking at

          8  individual components without looking at the entire

          9  program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And as anyone

         11  asked the design firm whether or not there's anyway

         12  they can do this more quickly?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I was pushing

         14  it from day one, believe me. And I had regular

         15  meetings with them and we still do have regular

         16  meetings with them. We are pushing them as fast as

         17  they can go. But here again, we want to make sure

         18  that we build it correctly and some of the

         19  assumptions there are making as they build these,

         20  they have to sit and talk with our operating people

         21  to make sure we're both in line. And we pointed out

         22  some things to them that they had to make some

         23  changes on. Nothing major. But it is a coordinated

         24  effort and we are pushing as quickly as we can.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Certainly, the
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          2  Mayor must feel that, okay, I went out on a limb and

          3  I said that we're going to drop the Linden Plan and

          4  we're going to go with the MTS plan which the

          5  Council had proposed in the past and which sounded

          6   -- and is the right way to go, we believe. And he

          7  felt that it could be done in two years. Certainly,

          8  he must feel that this is moving too slowly. Has he

          9  said that? Is there things that he's doing to push

         10  this?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: He is asking us

         12  where we are, what's going on, and he has indicated

         13  to me more than once he would like it to move as

         14  quickly as possible. And he would like to see it

         15  move quicker than we're going. And I've assured him

         16  that we're moving at breakneck speed to get this

         17  thing done. And we'll continue to do that. But he is

         18  probably putting more pressure on me than you are

         19  today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Well, he signs

         21  the paycheck. And now I notice that Ms. Ascher with

         22  you today. What role is EDC playing in this in the

         23  development of this plan and other aspects of the

         24  solid waste management plan?

         25                 MS. ASCHER: EDC is participating in a
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          2  task force with sanitation and the law department

          3  and a number of other City agencies to try to

          4  identify some of the business arrangements that will

          5  be part of the long- term management plan. The

          6  relationships with the private vendors to take the

          7  containers. A variety of possible alternatives that

          8  we're looking at for the future beyond this solid

          9  waste management plan. There's a number of discrete

         10  initiatives that they're working with sanitation on

         11  that have economic development implications for the

         12  City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: One of the

         14  things that we've advocated for a long time is the

         15  pursuit of landfill space for the City in the state

         16  of New York. Is that still being pursued and to what

         17  extent? Because, I think we're still even the end

         18  game of this transportation plan is still turning

         19  the waste over to private contractors to put into a

         20  landfill. So we're still going to see a large charge

         21  at the end of the process. That's correct, right?

         22  And would still be subject to the private market in

         23  terms of what we have to pay. So we may do all this

         24   -- let me ask that first question. Is there still

         25  an effort to try to find private landfill space that
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          2  we can control?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. In the

          4  RFP's that we will be putting out for receiving the

          5  containerized waste at the marine transfer stations,

          6  we're asking them to try and dispose of that within

          7  New York State as much as possible. We're going to

          8  look at that closely with they submit their

          9  proposals. And if we were to use private landfill

         10  transfer stations, we would require the same from

         11  them. And we are and we will continue to look for

         12  capacity in New York State. That has to be done. No

         13  question about it in my mind.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But for the City

         15  to actually acquire itself?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I would like to

         17  do that. We'll have to see which -- where we end up.

         18  But ideally, I'd like to see the City own a large

         19  piece of property up state so that we could design

         20  and build and have our own landfill for the future.

         21  You know, there will be a lot that go into that and

         22  I'm sure there will be people that will not be very

         23  interested in New York City's waste going up there.

         24  But it's something we have to work on.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And I mean, is

                                                            45

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  that something that you're actively pursing or

          3  thinking about pursuing? In other words, to what

          4  extent --

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I would say

          6  it's in soft mode now. We're really haven't nailed

          7  down some hard --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I'm sorry, soft

          9  mode?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yeah, we're

         11  looking at it. We know it has to be done. But we

         12  have a lot on our plate right now we're working on.

         13  And as we move forward, it is something that I'm

         14  sure before next spring, there will be more to be

         15  said about it and in a more direct manner.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I can't urge you

         17  enough to pursue that. Because I think until we

         18  don't have that, we are continuing to beholding to

         19  private interest who will control the price. By

         20  having that, certainly you can have more input --

         21  exert more influence on pricing. The RFP that speaks

         22  to alternative technologies. Can you describe that

         23  for us somewhat and tell us what the thought is

         24  there?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, there's
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          2  been a number of different companies with different

          3  proposals for handling the City's waste. Our

          4  preliminary review with them left us somewhat

          5  skeptical because many times they didn't have too

          6  much information really for us to evaluate them. I

          7  think some of the companies have probably did a

          8  little bit more homework on their conceptual ideas

          9  and we felt it was best to hire a private company

         10  through an RFP to evaluate the difference systems

         11  that may be coming down the line. This in no way is

         12  going to stop us from moving forward with the marine

         13  transfer stations. That is our goal and we're going

         14  to continue to do that. What I think -- to think

         15  about solid waste management in the City, we would

         16  be neglectful if we didn't see what else is out

         17  there and what may be viable. And maybe five or ten

         18  years from now, there may be a disposal system

         19  that's better than landfilling or better than the

         20  waste energy facilities that we know now. So, we

         21  have to look at that. But it's not going to slow us

         22  down, I'll tell you that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- And you know

         24  that's been the focus of a couple of hearings that

         25  we've had with the Council to look at those
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          2  technologies and certainly I read the reports today

          3  that thoughts about doing pilots and we support all

          4  that. Understanding and making clear to the public

          5  that we're not talking about traditional

          6  incineration. Although, to say that's it, but we're

          7  looking it. And I approve that and applaud you for

          8  doing that. I think that's a bold step. But are we

          9  being absolutely clear that no matter what the

         10  result of that RFP is or no matter what the result

         11  of the RFP is in the end game or what to do with the

         12  garbage once we have it containers, that the marine

         13  transfer station plan is moving forward?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Absolutely. No

         15  question about that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And the three

         17  facilities that may or may not remain in the City's

         18  control, a broader issue in my mind, but I don't

         19  want to bog down on that today, no matter what

         20  response is there, the City's committed to those and

         21  those are going forward?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And what about,

         24  I have one last question and I'll turn to my

         25  colleagues, what about community opposition? And
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          2  certainly in certain areas, there's broad community

          3  opposition.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think you're

          5  always faced with that. I mean anytime in the City,

          6  in my experience over the years, that we try to site

          7  a facility, not only for sanitation but many of the

          8  City agencies when you go about siting, there's

          9  always some objection from someone. And, you know,

         10  for various reasons. But, we'll have to work our way

         11  through that. There is -- nobody is begging us to

         12  come to their neighborhood and get rid of garbage

         13  yet. So, we realize there will be some issues and

         14  we'll have to work on them. But we're going to move

         15  forward and we're going to get it done.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Have you done

         17  any models or analysis as to what you think the cost

         18  will be to move a ton of garbage once this is up and

         19  running? Certainly, you must have a guess. I know

         20  it's a guesstiment. Are we going to save?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We've got to

         22  look at, we're saying right now, $50 million. It's

         23  probably going to be a good number. We'll have to

         24  see what the price comes in or the bids come in for

         25  the transport and disposal of the waste from the
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          2  marine transfer stations. You have to add that in.

          3  And then we'll probably have a better idea.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Are we going to

          5  save money or spend more money?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Compared to?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: What we do now.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Oh, I think in

          9  reality of it, you're probably going to spend a

         10  little bit more money than you're spending this

         11  year. There's no doubt about it. I mean, the cost of

         12  getting rid of garbage is not going down. We see

         13  that every time we put out a short term contract for

         14  the export of our waste. The price keeps climbing.

         15  But I think when one tries to compare it against,

         16  well if you don't get this system up and running,

         17  what is the price going to be like. And years from

         18  now, if it continues to grow each year as we see

         19  every time we put out a contract. I think in the new

         20  plan, we're going to be able to hold it down. The

         21  big way we're going to hold it down is we're going

         22  to have the ability to ship garbage long distances

         23  at a much cheaper rate. So that's one piece of it

         24  holding it down. The other piece of it is the

         25  economics. If you can tie a number into it, what's
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          2  the economics of driving these trucks all over the

          3  roads. And there is a certain cost to that. So,

          4  we're going to eliminate that.

          5                 I think there's more to look at than

          6  you always looking at, you know, what's the cost per

          7  ton today versus tomorrow. Yes, there's going to be

          8  some changes. No doubt about it. Well, is it going

          9  to save us in the long run. I believe we will. And I

         10  think the environmental issue of just getting trucks

         11  off the road, that's a number that I haven't figured

         12  out. Maybe somebody can at some point. But that's a

         13  big savings.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Because that

         15  would bring me to reducing the amount of garbage

         16  that we have including recycling. So, before we get

         17  to that, I would -- some of my colleagues have

         18  questions about the MTS portion of the hearing. We

         19  have been joined by Council Member David Yassky. I

         20  just want to point that out, from Brooklyn. Council

         21  Member Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Commissioner, in response to one of

         25  Chairman McMahon's questions, you mentioned the fact
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          2  that Staten Island transfer station would be up and

          3  running next year. And amazingly enough, that's

          4  where I like to start my line of questioning. Since

          5  2001 or late 2000, the City, the Department has

          6  vacillated between operating this entity itself or

          7  reaching out to the private sector. And I understand

          8  from your testimony that the RFP went out and you're

          9  getting response on the 19th. Could you delineate

         10  for the committee what factors will go into your

         11  decision to decide ultimately whether it will be

         12  within DOS itself, run and operated, or if it will

         13  be operated by a private entity?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think the

         15  biggest decision will be cost. That will be a big

         16  part of our decision. The other decision is going to

         17  be reliability of a work force that may not be under

         18  the control of the Department. And the values of

         19  having City workers operate a facility. And I think

         20  the other two big components in my mind that go into

         21  that final decision, I think.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you leaning

         23  as we sit here today in one direction?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Oh, yeah. I'd

         25  like to see the sanitation department operated.
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          2  Definitely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And when will

          4  that decision be made?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Oh, it --

          6  sometime probably, probably in the spring, I

          7  suspect. By the time we get the responses in. We

          8  evaluate them. We look at -- we will be working and

          9  we have done a little bit of work with the

         10  sanitation workers union on what the manning

         11  structure will be. We need to talk to them and as I

         12  said, there has been some discussions about them. We

         13  may need some changes in the work rules or even

         14  little minor things that are in the contract that

         15  kind of make them price wise very competitive with

         16  the private sector. And I think we can do that

         17  working together.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If it comes, and

         19  I say if,  it comes to it that you will have a

         20  private operator -- private entity operating that

         21  facility, I would just ask, yet again, that there

         22  would be specific language in the contract between

         23  that entity and the City as was promised to us back

         24  in 2000 and 2001, specific language in that contract

         25  that says, even if it's repetitive, Staten Island
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          2  waste only. So, if it comes to that, and obviously

          3  you've been very frank in saying where you want it

          4  to go, but if it goes the other way, that's a

          5  protection that we would want.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Great.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: You had

          8  mentioned and I just want to make sure I have my

          9  numbers right. Did you say that it's the max of a

         10  facility like this would be 4,300 tons per day?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: That's what the

         12  engineers are telling us right now. And like I said,

         13  the big thing is how much we can get through there.

         14  Because we que up and we get a lot of garbage from a

         15  certain town.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How many

         17  compactors would be in use to do 4,300 a day?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, he's

         19  talking about dump trucks. I'll do it quick. You

         20  mean --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm talking

         22  about within the facility to compact it --

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Oh, to compact

         24  the garbage?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: -- The conveyor
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          2  belt compacted?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: There are three

          4  of them. Right?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI:

          6  Three operating.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Three operating

          8  and one --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Three to do

         10  4,300 a day?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SZARPANSKI: A

         12  spare one.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: And a spare

         14  one.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And a spare one.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yeah.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Because, going

         18  back to the Staten Island facility, there's been an

         19  issue in the past that we've had these discussions

         20  about how many compactors and the decision was that

         21  we would agree to a second one and then there was an

         22  attempt at a third one. Clearly, we don't need a

         23  third one because we're not going to be handling

         24  4,300 tons per day.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct,

                                                            55

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I appreciate

          4  that. Because as you know, Commissioner, by the

          5  testimony today, Staten Island will be the only

          6  facility up and running till perhaps '06 or '07. But

          7  if the Chairman's concerns come true, it may be

          8  running -- that might be the only facility running

          9  and we on Staten Island are paranoid by experience.

         10  So, that's a concern to us.

         11                 The other question I have,

         12  Commissioner, is in the Times today and I don't know

         13  if it's accurate, it says that if the Administration

         14  has reached out to the private sector and invited

         15  them and that may eliminate the need to rebuild the

         16  transfer stations in the South Bronx and in

         17  Greenpoint. Is that accurate? You would have private

         18  entity running facilities somewhere else and these

         19  wouldn't be in use.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right. One of

         21  the RFP's or actually three of the RFP's that will

         22  be going out, one for Brooklyn, part of Brooklyn.

         23  One for part of Queens. And one for the Bronx to

         24  solicit proposals from private companies to receive

         25  the waste in those areas. If that turns out to be
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          2  something that we think is viable, we could go in

          3  that direction, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Currently, is

          5  there the capacity within the private sector in

          6  those areas to handle that? You're confident that

          7  there is?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: There -- no.

          9  Not in all the areas. Queens area, that we like to

         10  build under, there's no capacity in that part of

         11  Queens right now. And what we would require them to

         12  do, if they were to build a new facility or expand

         13  the facility, they would have to get off- setting

         14  tonnage from transfer stations that are currently

         15  operating in certain parts of the City. Such as in

         16  Brooklyn, community board one. In Queens, say the

         17  Jamaica area or going over the Brooklyn and taking

         18  some of the tonnage out of Brooklyn. And the same in

         19  the Bronx. That they would have to get off- setting

         20  capacity at currently operating putrescible stations

         21  in the South Bronx.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Is there private

         23  capacity on Staten Island and if so, how much?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Not for

         25  putrescible waste. No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Not at all?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. Mr.

          5  Chairman, I just want to say one last thing to sort

          6  of validate your concerns about the solid waste

          7  management process. As I sit, I look, not too many

          8  folks on this side of the desk that were here in

          9   '92. I see some people in the audience that were

         10  here in '92. And that was a very difficult and

         11  deliberate process. And I would think that this

         12  solid waste management plan might be more difficult

         13  to come to fruition than the last one. So, I think

         14  your points about the time line and the potential

         15  delays as a result of the SWMP are well taken.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I appreciate

         17  that, Council Member Otto, and I think that this is

         18  a major concern that we -- that the path that's been

         19  laid out as long as it is, is also a very

         20  treacherous path along with many pitfalls. I think

         21  that, again I don't know the solution, but I think

         22  that we all have to continue to urge the

         23  Administration to be as urgent about this as humanly

         24  possible. And I'm sure they understand that. But

         25  it's our job certainly to remind them. Council
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          2  Member Brewer?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Chairman. As you know, Commissioner, I

          5  represent the 59th Street area and I wanted to find

          6  out because I know it wasn't mentioned in terms of,

          7  I think there were three that you mention, in terms

          8  of the RFI. What I would call an RFI. So, I wanted

          9  to know between the fact that right next to it is

         10  your salt pile and your trucks which I know you're

         11  trying to move to the building across the street.

         12  And also, the fact that there's a brand new building

         13  going up, the Dursh Rose (phonetic), 8020 Building

         14  right there in that area. How do these different

         15  aspects affect the timing? You obviously will have a

         16  lot -- many more trucks going in and out of there.

         17  We see a design here that was kindly pointed out to

         18  me. How does that impact on the timing that was

         19  discussed by the Chairman? These different factors.

         20  Will in fact the movement of the trucks and the salt

         21  which are adjacent to the marine terminal be moved

         22  to your new building by the timeline that you have

         23  outlined?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. Well, the

         25  salt will be moved. I don't know if I will have it
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          2  out of there by '07. I may. I forget the timing on

          3  that. We're getting very close to finalizing sites

          4  for the garages that's at 57th Street. Like those

          5  across the street. But the salt pile is part of

          6  siting garages in Manhattan. We're working on that.

          7  But that -- but it will be close to that time. We

          8  should have that out of the way. And we won't be off

          9  that pier though for probably until about '08, I

         10  think, the earliest.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But how does

         12  that -- is there a relationship, do you feel,

         13  between the pier and this marine terminal in terms

         14   --

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: -- Of design

         17  and construction? You feel there's no relationship

         18  at all?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, they're

         20  separate issues. Separate.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But the truck

         22  traffic will continue to both the pier at least for

         23  a year or so and to the marine station if it is gone

         24  through in this time period with increased traffic.

         25  Is that correct?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, the

          3  traffic that's going to the pier where the two

          4  garages are now located, when the new garage is

          5  built, they'll be right across the street.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: So traffic is

          8  not going to change.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I know

         10  that.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: From one side

         12  of West Street there to the other side of 12th

         13  Avenue. That's all.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, the other

         15  question I have is in terms of the new building

         16  that's going up right across the street, does that

         17  in any case if there is new construction near any of

         18  these marine terminals, are they part of the EIS?

         19  How do they get incorporated into an EIS discussion?

         20  Because they're not there yet.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: For the

         22  garages?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes. There's a

         24  new building going up right across the street.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Not just from

          3  the garage, but actually from the marine terminal.

          4  It's 57th Street. But it's within the area.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's a huge

          7  building as you probably know.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWERS: How does that

         10  get incorporated --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: The EIS was

         12  already done on that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWERS: Okay. And

         14  then finally, how does -- this is obviously a

         15  discussion of a building and construction. In a

         16  place like 59th Street, that's so much similar to

         17  other places, does appear that the traffic would be

         18  extensive and that the street isn't constructed or

         19  designed for the amount of traffic going in and out

         20  of that area. How does that get incorporated into

         21  the discussion? How is that planned?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Part of the EIS

         23  looks at traffic and looks at air and noise. So that

         24  all goes into the EIS that is going to be worked on

         25  for the solid waste management plan and which
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          2  includes the marine transfer stations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWERS: So as part of

          4  both of those discussions?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWERS: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRMAN MCMAHON: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Brewer. Council Member Yassky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Chair. Good afternoon, Commissioner. A few

         12  questions. I just want to start with the RFP for

         13  alternatives -- private alternatives to the MTS's.

         14  If I understood this and I just want to clarify my

         15  understanding here. You're saying you are seeking

         16  from private vendors proposals for I guess three

         17  places one of which is North Brooklyn that would be

         18  alternative to retrofitting the MTS. Is that what I

         19  understood?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: To be crystal,

         22  I think I understand this. But I want to be crystal

         23  clear. And the public should be crystal clear. If

         24  you were to go down that route with a private

         25  vendor, what would happen to the existing MTS? What
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          2  would happen to the existing site, let's say in

          3  Greenpoint on Newtown Creek that is currently a

          4  vacant DOS or an unused DOS property?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, one of

          6  the items that will go down there is the department

          7  store house. We need to build a store house. And

          8  another issue is always I need garages. So it will

          9  be a department facility of some sort probably.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I mean, I

         11  guess I would say that I understand that this is

         12  just you're soliciting proposals and you're very far

         13  from deciding to go down that route. But when you've

         14  got a community that has -- that's going to be asked

         15  to have a private transfer station -- a giant

         16  private transfer station essentially, I would think

         17  that you asked them to also have another large DOS

         18  facility like you would use at that site would be

         19  asking a great deal. Just as you pursue that idea, I

         20  would ask you to keep that in mind and consider

         21  whether you would want to ask the community to take

         22  two large DOS facilities out of this plan. Just a

         23  factor I would ask you to consider. The consultant

         24  for new technologies that, I also want to make sure

         25  I understand this, you're saying these are not
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          2  alternatives to the retrofitting or renovating or

          3  recreating MTS's plan, this is for some years in the

          4  future --

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- That you'd

          7  be looking at?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, okay. Why,

         10  I mean, in other words, this would be for a disposal

         11  system or plan that might perhaps be implemented in

         12  2009 or '10 or beyond?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Probably. I

         14  mean, you've got to see what they're going to come

         15  up with. I mean people have these grand ideas, but

         16  when you start looking at them under a microscope,

         17  you find that there are many problems with them and

         18  they're not suited for this City. But we're still

         19  going to look at them, and if we came up after

         20  reviewing them and found that there was a really

         21  great idea that made sense, down the road at some

         22  point we would see how we might use that as part of

         23  our waste disposal strategy.

         24                 You have to remember, the marine

         25  transfer stations are just a disposal point and the
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          2  start of a transport system. So, if you come up with

          3  new technology, you have to find a place to put it.

          4  Now, whether that site is in the City or outside the

          5  City, you still can use the transport system that

          6  we're building to deliver the waste to that

          7  facility, whatever it may be, for final disposition.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. Well,

          9  look, I think I understand your answer. I guess, I

         10  was all disquieted by the featuring of it in your

         11  testimony, in that my hope is that we will be moving

         12  with all possible speed. And you've testified, it's

         13  your desire to do that as well, it's obviously the

         14  Chair's, it's all of us really who work for the City

         15  and work for the people of the City, it's the desire

         16  of all of us, I'm sure, to move with all possible

         17  speed from the interim plan to the permanent plan.

         18  And seeing in the testimony that featuring of this

         19  consultant made me wonder if this was kind of

         20  re-opening the question of whether we're -- of the

         21  commitment to using the eight MTS's.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Absolutely not.

         23  And I'm glad you brought that out so we can clarify

         24  it. Absolutely not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.
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          2                 I just wanted to follow up with

          3  something that the Chair asked you about the cost of

          4  these. Is it correct that the -- I guess I've

          5  assumed that the operating cost of our disposal

          6  system will be reduced once we implement the

          7  long-term plan.

          8                 In other words, we now spend, if I

          9  understand correctly, some $400 million a year,

         10  that's what we spent last year, I guess, just on

         11  disposal, costs after the garbage is picked up from

         12  people's homes, compared to the 120 or something or

         13  whatever it was five years ago. I thought that one

         14  of the purposes of long-term plan compared to the

         15  interim plan would be to reduce the operating costs.

         16                 I understand building these things at

         17  $50 million a pop is not going to be cheap. But am I

         18  correct in thinking that the operating costs will be

         19  less?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: When you look

         21  at the operating cost, and it was mentioned in Mr.

         22  Lipkin's Time article today about the manpower and

         23  our headcount.  Our headcount did go up for the

         24  short-term export to the tune of about 300 more

         25  workers, to transport trucks to the out-of-City or
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          2  even in-City locations. But at the same time, the

          3  personnel that we had in waste disposal that

          4  operated at Fresh Kills and marine transfer stations

          5  came down about the same number. So it was a wash. I

          6  think we're going to see about the same exchange of

          7  personnel when we build these new transfer stations,

          8  we'll need a couple more people than we had at the

          9  old simple type of operation we had, but we're going

         10  to reduce the export. The people required to

         11  transport these trucks. So your costs are probably

         12  going to stay about the same at the end of the day.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I guess I just

         14  thought that it would be cheaper to move a container

         15  by -- many containers hooked up to a locomotive than

         16  several trucks --

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: You're right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- Carrying

         19  each of the containers.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. I only

         21  answered part of it. It was the personnel. You're

         22  right.

         23                 The issue on how much it's going to

         24  cost us right now, it's running $65 a ton to

         25  transport it on average, you know, to dispose of it,
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          2  the tipping fee outside the City, plus the

          3  transportation cost and everything else is covered.

          4                 Where are we going to end up? It's

          5  definitely going to be cheaper on the long haul.

          6  There's no question about that. And that's what

          7  we're building for, the long haul.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Where we can go

         10  long distances on train or barge and reduce our

         11  transportation cost.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Let me ask it

         13  this way. If I'm right, according to your most

         14  recent management report, Mayor's Management Report,

         15  it's around $105 a ton in disposal costs, landfill

         16   --

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: --

         19  Transportation, everything, all in, about $105 a

         20  ton. What do you expect that number to be under the

         21  final plan?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: What will be

         23  the cost per ton?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, what's

         25  your projection?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I'm not going

          3  to project anything at this time. I'm not going to

          4  look at it. I think we have to look at a number of

          5  things. I mean, there's your fixed costs that are in

          6  and then there's the operating costs on a regular

          7  basis. And what it's going to cost with these

          8  contracts.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I mean, is it

         10   -- Mr. Chair, I don't want to belabor this, but I

         11  just think this -- I mean, if it's $400 million

         12  outlay to retrofit the MTS's, presumably we do that

         13  because it's worth it in the long run.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, I assume

         16  you must have some projections to say, well, we

         17  going to spend that $400 million capital because

         18  then our operating costs goes down from $105 a ton

         19  to $80 a ton, $70 a ton. I don't know what it is.

         20  But, otherwise-- if we're going to spend the $400

         21  million capital up front and then we're going to see

         22  our operating costs stay at a $105 ton or go to a

         23  $115 a ton, then that would not have been smart.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, we're

         25  going to -- as I tried to point out earlier, when
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          2  you try to compare what it will cost the first year

          3  that we have all these facilities up and operating

          4  versus what is it costing today, it's going to be

          5  more expensive. A little bit more expensive. But

          6  it's going to be costing us more money to get rid of

          7  the garbage. Each year or each time we enter a

          8  contract, we see the cost of disposing of garbage

          9  increasing. The question is what is it going be

         10  five, six, eight years from now where if the cost

         11  continues to go up and the biggest cost is going to

         12  come with the land transport. If we don't get the

         13  trucks off the road, it's going to cost us a lot of

         14  money to truck it to far off locations. Because

         15  Pennsylvania is going to be slowly closely down

         16  their landfill capacity. So, our cost, we expect are

         17  going to be cheaper in the long run than they would

         18  be versus trucking it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I guess I

         20  would ask you if you could -- I would ask the

         21  department to put some numbers to that because I'm

         22  speaking from somebody who wants to support this

         23  plan and wants to defend it. And I represent a

         24  community that is going to be asked to take a marine

         25  transfer station. I'd like to be able to go and say
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          2  this is in the interest of the City. Because right

          3  now we're paying $105 a ton to take it out truck by

          4  truck by truck and once we build this, then we don't

          5  have to pay a thousand. We don't have to pay a

          6  thousand trucks a day. We just send some rail lines.

          7                 MS. ASCHER: Can I just clarify --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I guess I'd

          9  like to know if that's true.

         10                 MS. ASCHER: I'd just want to clarify

         11  one thing --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Not now, but

         13   --

         14                 MS. ASCHER: The situation that we're

         15  in now paying $105 a ton which includes about $40

         16  per ton fixed cost. So that's not the actual cost of

         17  the truck moving out is really untenable situation.

         18  It's an interim plan that basically is cheap. We're

         19  sending it out. But at a high environmental cost.

         20  And we can't continue to do this beyond October '04.

         21  The plan that we put in place may have higher cost

         22  including the capital you referred to and probably

         23  about the same operating cost. But it's much more

         24  acceptable over the long- term. And as John says, it

         25  gives us access to further a field landfills which
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          2  are now opening in places in the south and the mid-

          3  west. And hopefully as that market evolves for

          4  landfills that are not just in Ohio and

          5  Pennsylvania, that cost will be controlled over the

          6  long- term.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. My last

          8  question that I want to ask is about how do we make

          9  sure that the entire plan goes forward. And here's

         10  my concern. My concern is it would not be fair if

         11  two of the MTS's that open, I guess the land based

         12  ones, will open before the water based ones. Before

         13  the ones that are kind of out over the water. How do

         14  we make sure we don't get into a situation where

         15  three land based ones open. The water based ones

         16  though are delayed indefinitely either logistically

         17  or because of community issues and then the three

         18  that have opened up have to take all the garbage.

         19  How do we make sure that doesn't happen?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, couple of

         21  things. One, the solid waste management plan has to

         22  be approved by the City Council. And that plan will

         23  lay out the road map and what we're going to do. And

         24  that will include all the facilities that we're

         25  going to have up and operating to handle the waste
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          2  in the City. So, we're going to be required to do

          3  that. We can't switch around. The other thing is

          4  they just won't have the capacity. You can't say,

          5  okay, if you don't open these, we're going to send

          6  it all here. They just don't have the capacity. You

          7  physically can't handle it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What's the

          9  timing of the solid waste management plan presenting

         10  that? How far in advance?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I just want to

         12  make it clear that we are all big fans of borough

         13  self- sufficiency and so I'm sure for that solid

         14  waste management plan to come through this Council,

         15  it's going to have to contain that. So I make that

         16   -- that's something that --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I am confident

         18  that whatever solid waste -- that the Council would

         19  pass something that respect to the principal for

         20  borough self- sufficiency. I guess my question as a

         21  practical matter, I want to make sure --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Will they stick

         23  to the plan?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, how do

         25  you avoid -- I want to make sure that the Department
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          2  is thinking about how to avoid a situation in which

          3  a few of them open up. Now there is either

          4  tremendous community issues or logistical issues at

          5  one of the ones is not yet open and from the point

          6  of view of the Sanitation Commissioner in 2007,

          7  looking at that situation abandoning borough self-

          8  sufficiency starts to look better good. I just would

          9  ask that the Department plan for that from day one.

         10  As I'm sure you are.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We haven't

         12  abandoned it to date.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We're on track.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Council Member

         18  Jackson is the last to have questions on the MTS's.

         19  But before we do that, I see Council Member Weprin

         20  is here and I would like to call for your vote on

         21  the Resolution that we passed calling on Congress to

         22  award a presidential medal of honor -- freedom to

         23  posthumously bestow to Michael Judge.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Council Member
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          2  Weprin. Council Member Yassky?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Thank you.

          5  Council Member Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair. It's pretty warm in this room. But we're

          8  surviving. Commissioner, good afternoon.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Good afternoon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: My questions

         11  relate to, I guess, the solid waste management plan

         12  that is expected to come in front of the Council

         13  next year. And I was wondering whether or not are

         14  you considering to include in the solid waste

         15  management plan, marine transfer stations where the

         16  trash is mainly generated. I'm talking about

         17  commercial trash in Midtown Manhattan. Because I

         18  think that from everything that I know and I'm a lay

         19  person when it comes to trash. As you know, I'm a

         20  new member of this committee since my term in 2002.

         21  It is my understanding that the best way to try to

         22  get rid of the trash as closest to the site where

         23  it's generated rather than trucking it to locations

         24  that may be five, ten, 15 miles away. And you're

         25  talking about thousands and ten of thousands of
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          2  trucks traveling through the City and using diesel

          3  fuel and what have you and so forth. So, are you

          4  considering including in the solid waste management

          5  plan the marine transfer stations in Midtown

          6  Manhattan?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: The marine

          8  transfer station in Midtown Manhattan, it's on the

          9  board right now as the 59th Street marine transfer

         10  station. Is that the one you're referring to?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, I was not

         12  referring to the eight that are included in the

         13  plan. I'm talking about others that are not sited as

         14  of yet that should be sited in order to deal with

         15  the trash at locations where the trash is generated.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Currently, the

         17  plan does not provide for another marine transfer

         18  station.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now is the

         20  plan only considers residential garbage or

         21  commercial garbage or what?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, we're

         23  looking at the disposal facilities that will be set

         24  up to handle both residential and commercial waste.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is there any
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          2  reason why you're not considering marine transfer

          3  stations at the point where the majority of the

          4  commercial waste is generated?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, that's

          6  been something that's been kicked around for years.

          7  As you know, years ago we had facility down at

          8  Gasser Street (phonetic) and we lost that facility.

          9  It was basically condemned. And all along the west

         10  side there right now is the Hudson River Park. So, I

         11  don't know where someone would go if they wanted to

         12  move anything down there. I mean, we've got the

         13  Hudson River Park running the west side from

         14  basically the Battery up to 59th Street and even

         15  further. So you got a whole park along there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Am I

         17  concluding that you're not considering other

         18  locations other than the eight locations that are

         19  already sited?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: That is not on

         21  our plan at this time, no.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I'm a

         23  little surprised at that. Because of the feasibility

         24  of trying to get rid of the garbage at the locations

         25  that are closest to where it's generated. And to not
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          2  look at that, I think, is not realistically

          3  approaching the problem that we have. So, I strongly

          4  urge you and your staff to consider whether or not

          5  there's any other locations other than the eight

          6  current MTS's that we can site and build. Because I

          7  know that there are advocates out there that truly

          8  believe that everyone has to deal with the garbage

          9  crisis and not say not in my backyard only that

         10  believe. And I do believe that we should look at

         11  other locations other than the ones that you have

         12  sited up on the board here. I ask the Council to the

         13  Committee a question and he said you did respond to

         14  it which was do these new designs, meaning of the

         15  eight marine transfer stations include enough

         16  through put capacity to accommodate commercial waste

         17  as well as residential. And I'm sorry, I did not

         18  hear your response to that.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: In theory,

         20  probably. In operationally, I mean we still have to

         21  look at how much we can get through the marine

         22  transfer stations. If one spreads it out evenly, you

         23  have the ability to get, I think I said 4,300 tons

         24  through them. So, I mean in theory, with all the

         25  marine transfer stations, you would have that
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          2  capacity. But practicality of doing it, is something

          3  that still has to be looked at and see what we can

          4  do. We're working on that. But they definitely have

          5  the ability to take commercial waste and the

          6  residential waste. The question is, how much of it

          7  and, you know, there's other questions too. Can we

          8  actually direct the private sector to our City

          9  facilities? And that's been litigated in the past.

         10  In some instances, the private sector winning and

         11  some they've lost depending on how the case went.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I'm not

         13  looking to direct the private corridors to go to

         14  MTS's. I'm very concerned about the fact that at the

         15  current eight that's on board and more specifically

         16  the 135th Street location which is in my district,

         17  I'm concerned about the thousands of trucks that are

         18  going to be going through the community and I know

         19  that there are advocates both out there that want

         20  the City wide comprehensive plan in order to deal

         21  with our garbage. And advocates out there that are

         22  saying, no way, are we going to have the MTS in our

         23  community. And I think that you had said before at a

         24  previous hearing that the plan is to have the 135th

         25  Street MTS to deal with the residential garbage that
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          2  existed before. Is that correct?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is there any

          5  other plan to go beyond that at this point in time?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No. I mean,

          7  I've been asked the question a number of times. Are

          8  the marine -- will the marine transfer stations have

          9  the capability for commercial waste? And the answer

         10  to that is, yes. But there's a lot more from

         11  answering yes to that question to actually running

         12  the commercial waste through there. Like I said,

         13  there are legal issues on how we can direct the

         14  waste. But I think we need to have that capacity

         15  should the City do that. And I think there's also a

         16  need by many communities to close these land

         17  transfer stations. There are a lot of competitive

         18  issues out there that we have to resolve.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think in

         20  response to a question earlier, long time ago, you

         21  had indicated that the ramp to the proposed MTS's

         22  will be built strong enough to handle queuing on the

         23  ramp. And that I believe you said will or may avoid

         24  queuing of trucks in the local neighborhoods. And

         25  that where there is -- is there a plan to make sure
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          2  that there's not queuing in the neighborhoods?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We have to stop

          4  that, I agree. I mean, some facilities will be able

          5  to que on City grounds and other facilities we're

          6  going to have to do some type of staging and

          7  controlling our timing of our trucks arriving at the

          8  facility so we avoid the queuing in the streets.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because from

         10  what was expressed to me previously by people that

         11  live in the community up and around 135th Street,

         12  some advocates up there that was a problem. And I

         13  think that many people want to avoid those same type

         14  of problems that you had previously. So, I just

         15  wanted to raise these issues and concerns when

         16  you're moving in that direction.

         17                 Then my final one is, a follow- up

         18  question. If you can put out an RFP for private

         19  sector facilities to have transfer stations in other

         20  boroughs, then why can't they look for facilities in

         21  Lower Manhattan?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: The issue has

         23  always been in Manhattan is that you're not going to

         24   -- the reality of trying to find a site that's

         25  large enough to accommodate a facility or facilities
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          2  is really not feasible. I'm mean, I need to go back

          3  to it, but --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Why?

          5  Politically or what? Politically or what?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yeah, I think

          7  it's politically. I mean people don't want us

          8  around. I mean I've been fighting -- fighting --

          9  I've been working for years trying to find

         10  facilities for the garages in Manhattan. And I still

         11  don't have them. The garage that services your

         12  district is in the Bronx. And I can remember as a

         13  young man on this job looking at trying to get one

         14  where the buses are over off at Broadway years ago.

         15  We didn't go it. We're still living in the Bronx.

         16  We're got districts from the Bronx that are in

         17  Manhattan. So it goes back and forth. I need a new

         18  garage because the people over on 99th Street on the

         19  East side off First Avenue want me out of that dingy

         20  garage we're in over there. I can't find a site. So

         21  the reality of trying to find a site, I think is

         22  just not there. To say I'm going to do a plan is not

         23  realistic to find land transfer stations. I mean

         24  what we have on the water, we're going to struggle

         25  with. I mean there's going to be opposition. I know
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          2  your community is not happy with it. There are other

          3  communities that aren't happy with it. That's going

          4  to be a struggle. But to find other sites is really

          5  not realistic in my mind. It's just not going to

          6  happen. It's not going to happen. Based on the

          7  history I have just trying to put a garage up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: David Yassky

          9  asked a question about cost factor in compared to, I

         10  guess, when the MTS's were up and running.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I looked

         13  at the article in today's paper. What is the cost

         14  factor so that I know specifically if you can give

         15  that quotation? What is the cost factor that we are

         16  spending to get rid of our garbage? The total cost

         17  factor now compared to when the MTS's were up and

         18  running. Is that figure that's in the paper correct

         19  or can you give a quote?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No. It's more

         21  expensive, of course. Because we were spending on

         22  the Fresh Kill disposal cost was about $40 a ton to

         23  go to Fresh Kills. Now we're doing $65 on a tipping

         24  fee. And when one looks and goes back a couple of

         25  years at our cost back in '96, when we were doing
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          2  about total cost for waste through the marine

          3  transfer station to Fresh Kill including the

          4  overhead, we ran about $183, $183 a ton. I mean

          5  there's a lot of sunk cost built in cost on that.

          6  And now we're at the last time in 2002 was $257. So

          7  you've got a difference of $74. That's basically

          8  accounting for the $65 that we have to pay now. And

          9  that's going to climb. I expect this year we'll

         10  probably be closer to $69 when we look at the books

         11  at the end of the year. And it's going to keep going

         12  up.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I know

         14  you're talking about per ton.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm thinking

         17  more the cost to the City. To the people of New York

         18  City. We're talking about hundreds of millions of

         19  dollars.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. Last --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you have

         22  that number?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Last the year

         24  the cost was, I believe, about $246 million to get

         25  rid of the waste.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: To get rid of

          3  our waste?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And that's

          6  through the whole trucking out.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: That's the

          8  expense for the exporting of it. The trucking cost

          9  and the disposal fee. That doesn't cover our debt

         10  cost that we're paying off on Fresh Kills and other

         11  facilities.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right. Thank

         13  you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRMAN MCMAHON: Okay. Commissioner,

         15  hearing all that and what's still has to be done in

         16  the time frame, I have just one last question on

         17  this subject, the time frame that we have getting

         18  this done. Was it a mistake to -- I mean, do you

         19  regret that we abandoned the Linden Plan or that the

         20  Administration abandoned the Linden Plan? Was there

         21  no way to salvage that? Because for those who don't

         22  understand, the Linden Plan would have transported

         23  the garbage without having to -- it would have been

         24  open barge to a facility that would have been

         25  handled it there. Would it have been much easier to
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          2  get that up and running? Was it a mistake to cancel

          3  that?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, I don't

          5  think it was a mistake. There were issues over

          6  there. Yeah, if everything was perfect, you probably

          7  would have had it built a little bit sooner. But

          8  there were stumbling blocks going to Jersey with

          9  that into that location. Not everybody was in line

         10  with that facility. And there was other issues about

         11  the ownership of the property and who we wanted to

         12  deal with. And it was railroad issues. So, there was

         13  a lot of issues over there that I think probably

         14  delayed us. I mean if we stayed with that, we quite

         15  possibly having more of a problem than the way we're

         16  going right now. Because there was issues about

         17  building that facility over there and how we're

         18  going to deal with the people that own it and also

         19  there was concerns about the railroad over there and

         20  people's concerns about the noise that railroad

         21  trains make.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Are we -- since

         23  the announcement to go to this plan, can you really

         24  say that we're really much closer to getting it done

         25  than we were then? And if so, how?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think so. I

          3  mean, you know it's a call. You can say, well, you

          4  might have moved faster going to Jersey with the

          5  Linden. But Linden was only going to handle part of

          6  it. It wasn't the whole solution. But, whether it

          7  would have worked or not or whether we would have

          8  had more problems over there from constituents or

          9  elected officials or something that may have a

         10  second thought about us going there, I don't know. I

         11  think we made the right decision. I think the Mayor

         12  made the right decision and we're moving forward

         13  now. And, we're moving at, you know, at maximum

         14  speed. Full throttle ahead. But, you know, it does

         15  take time. So, you know, you can take an opinion

         16  either side and argue with it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. I won't

         18  belabor the point. That might be one point where we

         19  disagree. Let me ask this on recycling. Do we have

         20  the personnel available to staff the recycling

         21  routes when we reintroduce weekly pick- ups on April

         22  1 and is there anything you want to tell us in that

         23  regard?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We will have

         25  the people on board by April 1. A couple things are
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          2  happening. Come December 10th of this month, we will

          3  bring back a 100 -- December 8th rather, I'm sorry,

          4  December 8th, we bring back a 100 sanitation workers

          5  that were laid off. And on the 15th, I expect to

          6  bring to back the last 117. So we're going to have

          7  everybody that was laid off back before Christmas

          8  and we will be hiring next year probably late

          9  winter, early spring, to ensure that we have

         10  sufficient personnel to handle the recycling

         11  program.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So, that's good

         13  news then. This is the first time we're hearing

         14  that. All the workers who were laid off through the

         15  budget crisis will be back to work by December 15.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And at that

         18  point, you will have the personnel necessary to do

         19  recycling as of April 1, without overtime or will

         20  you have to use overtime?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, we'll do

         22  hiring. We'll hire personnel. We're going to hire up

         23  a new list. We have a new list that we expect -- new

         24  list -- sanitation workers list we expect to be out

         25  early next year. We have a couple of steps to do. We

                                                            89

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  have to qualify the people who are on the top of

          3  that list to be able drive or get the CDL license if

          4  they don't have one. We provide them training on

          5  their time. Once they pass that, then we will be

          6  hiring personnel. Like I said, we should be hiring

          7  late winter, early spring, so that we have

          8  sufficient people on board.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And how many

         10  will you be hiring?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, we've got

         12  look at attrition. I mean, we'll probably hire, I

         13  suspect at least 160. Maybe more. We have to look at

         14  how attrition runs. And how our head count is.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But, why --

         16  that's in this fiscal year. So, I know that's not

         17  exactly the focus of this hearing. But it does go to

         18  the personnel necessary for recycling. We've had

         19  people laid off in this fiscal year and then in the

         20  same fiscal year we're hiring extra people. Does

         21  that --

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well,

         23  attrition, one attrition is going, yeah. You have an

         24  attrition to replace and now you have the recycling

         25  program going to start. So that's going to require
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          2  more people. You're going from weekly -- alternate

          3  week to weekly, so we're going to have to run more

          4  trucks. And you're going to have the glass coming in

          5  on the recycling side.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So when those

          7  folks are hired and we come to April 1, what's the

          8  manpower that we'll have? How many people? I'm

          9  sorry, not manpower, person power, will the

         10  Department have?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: About 60, 200

         12  sanitation workers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I'm sorry.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: About 60, 200

         15  sanitation workers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Is that full

         17  staff in your mind? Is that what you need to do

         18  normal trash pickup and the recycling without using

         19  overtime?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We have to look

         21  at the work load at that time. I mean, we've seen --

         22  we've experienced an increase in our regular waste

         23  tonnage beyond the glass that was put back on the

         24  waste side. So there's an increase there. We have to

         25  see if that continues. That may require more
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          2  manpower. If it drops down, we don't need as many

          3  people. We have to see if there's any new

          4  initiatives. I mean, maybe the Council wants to

          5  spend some more money on cleaning. I don't know.

          6  Although, we've got a 90 score card for November,

          7  we're really hot. Four months in a row at 90. So

          8  we're really doing good.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Congratulations.

         10  Did the Department save money by cutting weekly

         11  recycling?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Can you tell us

         14  how much?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Very simple.

         16  Let me just put it this way. Everybody has a

         17  different view point on this. If you have a truck

         18  out there now, it's picking up 11 tons of garbage.

         19  That's what the men are averaging now. The

         20  contractors 10.6. But the workers are picking up on

         21  average 11 tons of garbage. -- That truck out. You

         22  have to put two sanitation workers on it. You have

         23  to have a truck. And you have to have all the

         24  support that goes with that truck out. Now you put

         25  another truck out for recycling, in some cases two
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          2  trucks, with two workers on it. The same overhead

          3  and they only do six tons. If you have the same cost

          4  to pick up six tons and you pick up 11 tons, it's

          5  going to be cheaper to pick up 11 tons. So you save

          6  money. When one talks about the cost of the

          7  disposal, $65 we'll say versus bringing the glass

          8  back on. Right now glass is about 3,600 tons a week.

          9  The metal and plastic is 2,400 tons. We're getting

         10  paid $5.10 for that. We're getting paid. So that's

         11  nine, under a million dollars, $900 something

         12  thousand. Now you're going to take the 36 and the

         13  24, six thousand tons and you're going to pay-- the

         14  last bid was $51 per -- when you're done the pluses

         15  and minuses, it cost you more to pick the glass. And

         16  by the same token, by putting the glass in the

         17  garbage, we save money. Because you could be more

         18  productive doing that way. Is that the way we're

         19  going to go? No. Come April, the glass comes back

         20  and we go back to weekly. But when one asks me the

         21  numbers, I have to tell them the facts. And that's

         22  the numbers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. And I know

         24  that's an area that we've gone back and forth on

         25  over time and there's some disagreement I know. But
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          2  I understand your position. You talked about the

          3  diversion rates and you talked about the difference

          4  between 2002 and 2003. But now in 2002, we were in

          5  suspension. 2003, we were in partial suspension.

          6  What about in comparison to 2001 the last time we

          7  had full recycling?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Of course, we

          9  were recycling more material in 2001 because you had

         10  the glass in there. That's 3,600 tons a week. No

         11  question about it. That's not in there right now.

         12  So, your tonnage is down. Are we recycling as much

         13  paper as we did in 2001? No, we haven't reached that

         14  point. But we are recycling more paper so far this

         15  year than we did for the same period last year.

         16  Which kind of cuts against people's theory when they

         17  say, oh, when you stop collecting materials such as

         18  the plastic and the glass, people stopped recycling.

         19  They didn't put out their paper. They said when you

         20  went to alternate week, they're going to do less

         21  recycling. The fact of the matter is we have seen

         22  the paper tonnage climb. Small amount probably about

         23  four percent. But it cuts against the theory. I

         24  think more had to do with the paper reduction as the

         25  economy that drove it down. It was just less paper
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          2  out there to be recycled. I don't think people

          3  changed their habits.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: But I think one

          5  could also argue the opposite that when we last year

          6  kind of saved recycling, if you will, and included

          7  plastic back it and made it clear to people that on

          8  April 1, full recycling will be back, maybe they

          9  realize oh, we still do recycle. So we captured

         10  more. You could argue it both ways, I think.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I'll take it.

         12  I'll take it. You've got it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: You can go both

         14  ways.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: You've got it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Have you gone

         17  back, because under the law you could increase

         18  collections in some districts. Have you done that

         19  anywhere?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So it stayed --

         22  everybody has once every two weeks throughout the

         23  City. You can tell me this. How many people have

         24  responded to the RFP to handle the recycling

         25  material?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: A number.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. Is that a

          4  number between one and ten?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: A number. They

          6  tell me I shouldn't talk about that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. My last

          8  question. Can you give us any details, some idea of

          9  the contents of the proposal?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No, we can't

         11  talk about it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: I'll respect

         13  that. Just one final on that and then I'll turn it

         14  to my colleagues. As we sit here today, is it

         15  correct that we are on track that come April 1, as

         16  provided by law, the Department will be prepared

         17  with the people power and the machinery and

         18  everything else to return to collecting recyclable

         19  materials curb side throughout the City of New York

         20  at least once a week?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Are there some

         23  districts that will get more than once a week?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. Is there
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          2  anything that you can foresee that would prevent the

          3  Department from being able to do that in the normal

          4  course of our affairs?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: No. It's just a

          6  dollar and sense issue. You hire the people. You

          7  send out the trucks. And hopefully people recycle

          8  and we pick it up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So, the

         10  Department is committed to doing this at this point

         11  and speaking for the Administration, the Mayor is

         12  committed to doing that as stated in the past as

         13  well?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: So, when we go

         16  back and tell our constituents that Commissioner

         17  Doherty says recycling is back April 1, come hell or

         18  high water, we're speaking the 100 percent truth.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. And the

         21  Christmas trees, Christmas collection will be done

         22  this year? Is that correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Yes. The

         24  Council provided funding for that. So we'll be

         25  picking up. One of the problems that we have with
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          2  Christmas trees, you have to understand it today,

          3  the lights are so cheap. You buy these ninety- nine

          4  cent string of lights. People don't take them off.

          5  They raise heck with us when we try to recycle them.

          6  They are just a mess. We're working out a deal right

          7  now, I think, some more work has to be done with the

          8  Park Department. We may give them a little of that

          9  funding that you gave us for Christmas tree

         10  collection to put personnel to clean the trees. It's

         11  just a nightmare. I mean it's not like years ago

         12  where everybody took the lights off and put them

         13  away. Now they leave them on.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: They are so

         15  cheap, they throw them --

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: And you just

         17  can't chip them. You really cut against the whole

         18  program when they do that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And I'm saying

         20  that maybe we Council Members can help spread that

         21  word when we speak to people. The leaf collection

         22  program comes back next year. Is that correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: July 1, 2004.

         25  Part of that --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Next fall.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- Expiration of

          4  the suspension. What type of education will we be

          5  doing come -- getting ready for April 1 to tell

          6  people that --

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We'll be

          8  reaching out with an education program to tell the

          9  people that the glass is back in. And remind them

         10  again of the different commodities to recycle and

         11  remind them of the different commodities not to

         12  recycle. Just put out what can be recycled. The

         13  proper bottles and jugs. Bottles and jugs. Paper,

         14  metal and glass come April.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: And what type of

         16  budget do you have set aside to do that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Oh, there's a

         18  number of million in there. I'm not sure. There's

         19  fiscal funding in there. I'm not worried about it. I

         20  don't remember what it is off the top of my head. I

         21  think they gave us at least a $1,000,000. There's at

         22  least a $1,000,000 there.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Is that adequate

         24  in your opinion?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: You run about a
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          2  $1,000,000 on the mailing. And if we can find

          3  anymore money, if there's anymore money around,

          4  we'll put it out.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: If you could,

          6  maybe we'll follow -- if you could just let us know

          7  if Council could speak to your staff and just let us

          8  know what that amount is and what's planned and

          9  follow- up, I'd appreciate that. Thank you. Council

         10  Member Brewer.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         12  much, Mr. Chairman. Two quick questions. One is the

         13  Housing Authority. I know that for many years

         14  they've not had the capacity for recycling. I just

         15  didn't know if that's going to change or if you're

         16  working with them. I know there would be a lot of

         17  configurations. I want to know the status of the

         18  Housing Authority on recycling. And then are there

         19  any other large entities like that, that also have

         20  challenges in terms of recycling?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Well, what we

         22  normally do with large housing complexes, if they

         23  have the space, they use a containerized system

         24  where they can store it in the containers. The

         25  metal, glass and plastic or newspapers. We try to
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          2  work with them on that. Some of them can't. And they

          3  just have to store it in the building until we come

          4  around once a week.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But the

          6  Housing Authority doesn't -- they have trouble doing

          7  that. People have to recycle. The only way to do it

          8  is to bring it down physically to the basement. That

          9  doesn't get done. Because there's nothing on the

         10  floor to do that. Have you had any conversations

         11  with them about that? Or could you?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Over the years,

         13  we worked with the Housing Authority on recycling

         14  and reached out to them. I don't know what they're

         15  current plans are. But I know they've worked with us

         16  in the past.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And are there

         18  any other -- there is no other entity like that that

         19  has that kind of challenge with lack of recycling

         20  within the complex that you know of?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I think there

         22  are many large apartment buildings in the City that

         23  are faced with the same challenge. I mean any of the

         24  buildings that were built during the time that they

         25  had garbage incinerators in the building are
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          2  basically faced with the same problem. Limited

          3  storage. Because they weren't designed. They were

          4  designed to burn rather than store.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you have a

          6  list of those buildings or DOB would have or it's

          7  not on a data base?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: I don't know

          9  whether there's a list on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         11  suggestion I would make in terms of recycling as

         12  Chair of the Technology Committee and as a constant

         13  internet user to be more creative about the way in

         14  which you get the material out. Because many people

         15  are not looking at the mailings but are looking at

         16  the internet. But it has to be done in a creative

         17  fashion. It cannot just go on NYC.gov which is the

         18  site, by the way, I patented and Mr. Giuliani had to

         19  get from me. But I want to mention that the fact is

         20  that the mailings if there could be some input from

         21  us or from folks who can think in that do it

         22  fashion, it would be very helpful. Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay. Any other
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          2  questions?

          3                 Having none, we want to thank you

          4  again, Commissioner, and your staff, and Ms. Ascher

          5  for coming. And we will not be having public

          6  testimony today because of the length of the

          7  presentation by the Department and the EDC. However,

          8  in early January, we will have another meeting just

          9  for the public to testify.

         10                 Let me just say in closing, if I may,

         11  Commissioner, as I said in the beginning, I commend

         12  the Administration's determination towards resolving

         13  this problem that has alluded prior administrators

         14  in the past. However, I must also say that I wish I

         15  felt more of a sense urgency and certainly you've

         16  explained your position on that and that you do all

         17  that you can. But I just urge you and your staff and

         18  everyone else to treat this as the crisis that it is

         19  and to continue to do so. And we will do everything

         20  on our end to help you to do that. Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 3:01 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25

                                                            103

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 2nd day of December 2003.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          LORI SANTOMIERI

                                                            104

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              LORI SANTOMIERI

         23

         24

         25

